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CERTIFIEDMAIL# 7009 3'/-/0 0000 
RETURN RECEIPT REQ UESTED 

John Kester 
Vice President and Plant Manager 
Rocky Mountain Bottle Company. LLC 
10619 West 50th Ave. 
RR836 
Wheat Ridge. CO 80033 

Dear Mr. Kester: 

Re: Notice of Violation 
Rocky Mountain Bottle Company. LLC 

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is issuing the enclosed Notice of 
Violat ion (NOV) to Rocky Mountain l30ttle Company, U .C (RM13C) pursuant to section 113 of 
the Clean Ai r Aet (the Act). 42 U.S.C. § 7413. EPA finds that RM13C is violating the Prevention 
or Significant Deterioration of Air Quali ty, Nonattainment New Source Review, and Title V 
requirements of the ACland the Colorado State Implementation Plan at RMBC's facility in 
Wheat Ridge, Colorado. 

As indicated in the NOV, EPA is offering representatives of RMI3C an opportunity to confer 
with LIS about the vio lations alleged in the NOV. If RMBC chooses to have sueh a conference. 
the company may present information on the speci fi c findings of violation. any efforts that have 
been taken to comply, and the steps that will be taken to pn:vent future violat ions. 

Ira conference is requested, please plan for facility technical and management personnel to 
attend to discuss compliance measures and commitments. RMBC may choose to have an 
altorney represent it at this conference. RMBC should make the request as soon as possib le, but 
no later than 10 calendar days after you receive thi s letter. If RMBC requests a conference. EPA 
will strive to hold the conference within 30 calendar days of your receipt of this Icner. 

EPA reserves its enforccmcIH authority under section 113 of the Act, 42 U .S.c. § 7413 . EPA's 
cntoreement options include issuing an administrative compliance order. issuing an 
administrative penalty order, and bringing ajudicial civil or criminal action . 



Should you have any questions. please direct technical issues to Hans Bu~nning, Environmental 
En gineer. at (303) 312-6486, and legal matters to Sheldon Muller. Senior En forcement Attorney. 
at (303) 3 12-691 6. 

Enclosure 

cc (wI encl.): 
Will All ison. Director 
Air Pollut ion Control Di vision 

A.ndr w M. Gaydosh 
: Slant Regional Administrator 

Office of Enforcement. Compliance and 
Environmental Justice 

Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment 

Ph ill ip A. Brooks. Director 
Air Enforcement Division 
Office o f Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
United States Environmental Protection Agency 
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONM ENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 
REG ION 8 1UI1 FEB - I AMI/ : 40 

IN THE MATTER OF ) 
) 

Rocky Mountain Bottle Company, LLC ) 
) 

10619 West 50th Ave. ) 
Wheat Ridge, CO ) 

) 
Respondent. ) 

) 

Docket No. CAA-08-2012-0002 

Proceedings Pursuant to Sect ions 
I 13(a)( l ) and (3) of the Clcan Air Act, 
42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(I) and (3) 

STATUTORY AUTHORITY 

The Uni ted Slales Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is issuing this Notice Of 
Violation (NOV) to Rocky Mountain Boule Company. LLC (Rcspondel1l) for violations of the Clc,1fi 
Ai r Act (the Act) and the Colorado State Implcmt.:ntation Plan (SIP). at its glass manufacturing plmll 
located in Wheat Ridge. Jeflerson County, Colorado (the Facility). 

This NOV is issued pursuant to Sections 113(a)( \ ) and (3) orthe Act. as amended on 
November 15. 1990 by P.L. 101-549.42 U.S.C. § 741 3(a)( I) and (3). The authority to issue NOVs 
has been delegated to the Regional Administrator o f EPA Region 8. and redclegated to the Assistant 
Regional Administrator of EPA Region 8's Office of Enforcement, Compliance and Environmental 
Justice. A description of the regulatory background. the rel evant facts. and a li st of the speci fic 
violations identi fied by EPA are outlined be low. The geographical jurisdiction of EPA Region 8 
includes the State of Colorado. 

STATUTORY AN D REGULATORY BACKGROUND 

I. The Act is designed to protect and enhance the quality of the nal ion's air resources so as to 
promote the public health and welfare and the productive capaci ty of its population. Section 
101(b)( I) of the Aet. 42 U.S.C. § 740 1(b)( I). 

Requirements for New Source Review Permits 

2. On June 19, 1978, EPA promulgated the Prevention of Significunt Deterioration (PSD) 
provision, of Part C ar Title I of the Act , 42LJ.S.C. §§ 7470-7492. 43 Fed. Reg. 26388. Federal PSD 
regulations arc codified at 40 C.F.R. § 52.21. The New Source Review (NSR) provisions of Parts C 
and D o f Title I of the Ac t require prcconstruction review and pe rmi tting for modifications of 
stationary sources. Pursuant to applicable regulat ions, if a major stat ionary source is planning to 
make a major modification. then that source must obtain e ither a PSD permit or a nonauainment 
NSR (NNSR) pennit, depending on whether the source is located in an attainment or unclassifiable 
area, or in a nonattainment area. for the pollutant being increased above the significance level. To 
obtain the required pennit, the source must agree to install the Best Availab le Control Technology 



(BACT) in an attainment or unclassifiable area, or achieve the Lowest Achievable Emission Rate 
(LAER) in a nonatta inment area. 

3. Section 165(a) of the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7475. provides. among othcr things. that no major 
emitt ing facility on which construction is commenced aner Aug. 7. 1977. may be constructed or 
modified in any area that is in attainment with the National Ambient Air Quality Standards 
(NAAQS) unless: 

a. a preconstruction PSD permit has been issued for the proposed facility or modification; 

b. the proposed permit has been subject to a review in accordance with Section 165 of the 
Act, the req uired anaJysis has been conducted in accordance with the PSD regulations, 
and a public hearing has been held with opportunity fo r interested persons to appear and 
submit written or ora l presentations on the air quality impact of such source. alternatives 
thereto. control technology requirements. and other appropriate considerations; 

c. the owner or operator of such facility demonstrates, as required pursuant to section 
I lOG) of the Act, that emissions from construction or operation ol'such fac ili ty will not 
cause. or contri bute to, ai r po ll ution in excess o f any (I) maximum allowable increase or 
maximum allowable concentrat ion for any pollutant in any area to which the PSD 
regu lat ions apply more than one time per year. (2) NAAQS in any air quality contro l 
region, or (3) any other app licable emission standard or standard of performance under 
the Act: 

d. the proposed facility is subject 10 the best avai lable control technology for each pollutant 
subject to regulation under the Ac t emitted from. or which results from. such fac ility: 

c. the provisions of Section 165(d) wi th respecl to protection of class 1 areas have been 
complicd with fo r such fac ility; . 

C there has been an analysis of any a ir quality impacts projected tor the arca as a result of 
growth associated with such facility; and 

g. the person who owns or operates, or proposes to own or operate, a major emitting 
facility lor which a pemli t is required under the PSD regulations agrees to conduct such 
monitoring as may be necessary to determine the effect which emissions from any such 
facility may have, or is having, on air qua li ty in any area which may be alfected by 
emissions from such source. I 

4. 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 1 (a) provides that the PSD regulat ions apply to the construction of any new 
major stationary source or any project at an existing major stationary source in an area designated as 
atta inment or unclassifiable under Sections 107(d)(I)(A)(ii ) or (iii) oflhe Acl. 

1 All rererences to the Colorado SI P. the Clean Air Act. and the Code or Federal Regulations (C.F.R.). un less stated 
otherwise. are to the SIP, the Act, and the C.F.R. thm were in effect at tht! time or the violations set rorth in this NOV. 
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5. 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 I (i)(I) provides that no stationary source or modificat ion to which the 
requirements of 40 C.F.R. § 52.2IU) through (r) apply may begin construction without a pennit 
w hich stales that the stationary source or modification wi ll meet those requirements. 

6. 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 I (i)(2) and (3) provide that the requirements of40 C.F.R. § 52.21G) through 
(r) are applicable to any major stationary source and any major modification that would be 
constructed in an area designated under the Act as in attainment with the NAAQS. with respect to 
each po ll ulant subject to regulation under the Act. 

7. Sections 110 and 161 of the Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 7410 and 74 71. requir~ that each SIP include a 
PSD permit program. EPA approved Colorado's PSD program as part of the Colorado SIP on 
September 2, 1986 and the approval became effect ive that same datc. 51 Fed. Reg. 31125. EPA 
approved subsequent moditications to the portion ofColorado's SIP re lated to Colorado 's PSD 
program, including approvals dated February 13, 1987. June 15, 1987, December I. 1988, March 28. 
1991, June 17, 1992, Septen)ber27, 1993. and August 18. 1994. 

8. The Colorado SIP for PSD and NNSR provides that no emission unit or source subject to that 
rule sha ll be constructed without obtaining an ai r construction permit that meets the requirements of 
thm ru le. The PSD and NNS R provisions of the Colorado SIP can be found in the Colorado Air 
Quality Control Commission Common Provisions and Regulation No.3. 5 eCR 1001-2 and 1001-5. 
S ince the Common Provisions and Regulation No.3 arc pan of the Colorado SIP, they arc federa ll y 
enforceable pursuant to Sections 110 and 113 of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 7410 and § 7413. 

9. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F .R. § 52.21 (b)( 1 )( i) define a "major stationary source" as, inlt!r 
alia. any stat ionary source that emits or has the potentia l to emit 250 tons per year or more orany air 
pollutant subject to regulat ion under the Act. For purposes of determining applicability of major 
NNSR review in a nonattainment area and the app licabili ty of Regu lation 3. Part B, Section IV. D.2, 
the Colorado SIP defines "major stat ionary source" as any stationary source of air pollutants which 
emits. or has the potential to emit. one hundred (100) tons per year or more of any pollutant 
reguLated under the Act for which the area is nonattainmcnt. Colorado Air Quality Control 
Commiss ion Regulation No.3, 5 CCR 1001-5. Section I. B.3.u (applicable to NNSR) and I. B.3.b.ii 
(applicable to PSD) (Colorado SII' 110(h) Compilation as of 1111511995). Colorado Air Quality 
Control Commission Regulation No.3, 5 CCR 1001·5, Part A, Section 1.8.58. see ;'Major Stationary 
Source," subsect ions a. (applicab le to NNSR) and b.ii (applicable to PSD) (Colorado SIP 110(h) 
Compilation as of 11 / 1511998).2 As of August 18, 1994. in the Denver Metropolitan PM-I a 
(part iculate matter with a diameter of 10 micrometers or less) nonatla inment area, any net emissions 
increase that is significant for su lfur dioxide (S02) or nitrogen oxides (No.~) shall be considered 
signi ficant for PM-l O. 

10. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F. R. § 52.2 I (b)(2)(i) define a "major modification" as any 
phys ica l change in or change in the method of operat ion of a "major stationary source" that would 
result in a significant net emiss ions increase of any pollutant subject to regu lation under the Act. 
Colorado Air Quali ty Control Commission Regulation No.3, 5 eCR 1001-5, Section LB.2 
(Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation as o r 1111511995) .. Colorado Air Quality Control Commission 

2 The ci ted references of authority were substantively the same at the lime of the 1991 plant modifications referenced in 
p<lrllgrllph 41. 
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Regulat ion No.3. 5 CCR 1001 -5, Part A, Sect ion I. B.35.B (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation a, or 
I 111511998). 

II. The Colorado SIP and 40 C. F.R. § 52.2 I (b)(3)(i) de fine " net emiss ions increase" as the 
amount by which the sum of the following exceeds ze ro : 

a. Any increase in actual emissions from a part icular phys ical change or change in method 
o f operation al a stat ionary source; and 

b. Any other increases and decreases in actual emiss ions at the source that are 
contemporaneous with the particular change and are otherwise creditable. 

See "Common Provisions Regulation", 5 eCR 1001 - 2 Section LG, see "Net Emission Inc rease." 
subsect ions a.i and ii (Colorado S IP 11 O(h) Compi lati on as o f 11/15/1995). Colorado Ai r Quality 
Contro l Commission Regulation No.3, 5 eCR 1001-5. Part A, Sect ion 1.13.36.a.i and ii (Colorado 
SIP 110(h) Compilation as or 11 / 15/1998). 

12. The Colorado S IP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 1 (b)(21) defi ne "actual emissions" as the rate of 
emissions o f a pollutant from an emiss ions un it, which. as of a particular date, are the actual 
emiss ions. in tons per year. at which the unit emitted the po ll utant during a two-year period which 
precedes the particular date and is rep resentative of normal un it operation. and are calcul.ated using 
ac tual operati ng hours. production rates, and types of materi als processed, stored or combustcd 
during the se lected time period. See "Common Prov isions Regulation". 5 CCR IDOl - 2 Section l.0. 
"Actual Emiss ions." subsections a and c (Colorado SIP I I O(h) Compilation as of 11 / 1511995). 
Colorado Air Qual ity Control Commission Regulmion No.3. 5 CCR 100 1-5, Part A. Section I.B. 1.11 
and e (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation as or 11/ 1511998). 

13. The Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 I (b)(23) define "sign ificant" and state that in 
re ference to NOx and S02. significant net emissions increase mea ns an emissions rate that would 
equal o r exceed 40 tons o r more per year ofNo.~, or 40 tons o r more per year ofS02. 40 C.F.R. § 
52.2 1 (b)(23)( i). See " Common Provisions Regulation". 5 CCR 100 I - 2 Sect ion 1.0. "significant," 
subsect ion a (Colorado SIP I IO(h) Compilation as o f 11/15/ 1995). Colorado Air Qual ity Control 
Commission Regu lati on No.3. 5 CCR 100 1-5, Part 1\. Section 1.B.57.a (Colorado SIP II O(h) 
Compilation as o f 11 / 15/ 1998). 

14. An applicant for a permi t to mod ify a stationary source is required to submit all information 
necessary to allow the permining autho rity to perform any ana lysis or make any determinat ion 
required in order to isslie the appropriate permit. 40 C.F.R. § 52.21 (n). Colorado Air Quali ty Control 
Commiss ion Regulation No.3. 5 CC R 100 1-5. Sec tion IV.B .2-J (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation 
as of 11 / \5/ \995). Colorado Air Quality Contro l Commiss ion Regulation No. J, 5 CCR 100 1-5. Part 
13 , Sect ion IV.B.2-3 (Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as of 11/ 15/1998). 

15. The Colorado SIP states that " .. . no person shall commence construction of any stat ionary 
source or modi fica tion o f a stationary source without fi rst obtaining o r having a valid construct ion 
pcrmit.. .'· . Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No.3 . 5 CCR 1001 -5, Sections 
LA and III .A. I (Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as or 11 /15/ 1995). Colorado Air Quality Control 
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Commission Regulation No.3, 5 CCR 1001-5, Part 13 , Sections I. A and II I. A. I (Colorado SI P 
110(h) Comp ilation as of 11 / 15/ 1998). The Colorado SIP further requi res. illler alia, that a source 
subject to PSD regulations undergo a control technology review, install BACT, and conduct air 
qua lity modeli ng. Colorado Air Q uality Control Commission Regulation No.3. 5 CCR 1001 -5. 
Sections IV.D.3.a and IV .D.3.a.i-vi (Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as of 11/ 15/ 1995). Colorado 
Air Qua li ty Control Commission Regulation No.3. 5 CCR 100 1-5, Part B. Sections IV.D.3.a and 
IV.D.3.a.i -vi (Colorado SIP 11 0(h) Compi lation as of 1111511998). See al.1'o 40 C.F.R. § 52.2I(i) 
which prohibits the construction of any new major stationary source or any major modifica tion 
without a pcml it which states that the source or modifica tion would meet the requ irements of 40 
C. F.R. § 52.2 10) through (r). 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 I(i)(2) and (3) provide that the requirements 01'40 
C. F.R. §§ 52.2 1 U) through (r) are applicable to any major source and any major modi fication that 
would be constructed in an area designated under the Act as in attainment with the NAAQS. with 
respcct to each pollutant subject to regulation under the Act. 

16. The Colorado SII' and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2I(b)(12). de fi ne "BACT"' as an emissions limitation 
based on the max imum degrce of reduction fo r each regulated PSD pollutant that would be emilled 
from any proposed major modificat ion whi le taking into account energy. environmental. and 
economic impacts and other costs. 42 U.S.C. § 7479(3). See "Common Provisions Regulation". 5 
CCR 1001 - 2 Sect ion I.G, "Best Ava ilable Control Technology" (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compi lation 
as of 1111511995). Colorado Air QualilY Contro l Commiss ion Regulat ion No.3. 5 CCR 1001 -5. Part 
A. Section I.B.12 (Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as of 11 115/ 1998). 

17. Secti on 107(d) o f the Act. 42 U.S.C. * 7407(d), requ irc.s each state to des ignate those areas 
w ithin its boundaries in which the air qual ity has attained the NAAQS. those arcas in which air 
quali ty has fail ed to atta in the NAAQS. and those arcas which cannot be classified due to 
insufficient data. The Act also requires EPA to prom ulgate a list of these areas and their atta inment 
status. 

18. On August 7. 1987. the Denver metropol itan area (includ ing Jeffe rson County) was 
des ignated as a "Group I" nonatta inment area (area with a strong likel ihood of violat ing thc PM -1 0 
Ni\i\QS) fo r PM · IO (52 FR 29383). Pursuant to the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments and Sect ion 
I07(d)(4)(B), the Denve r area was designated as a "moderate'" PM -IO nonattainment area. On 
St! ptcmber 16.2002. the Denver area was redes ignated as attainment for PM-I O. 

19. On March 3. 1978. EPA designated the Denver-Boulder metropolitan area (including 
Jefferson County) as nonattainment for the NAAQS for ozone (43 FR 8976), This designat ion. 
which was for the I-hour ozone standard then in effect. was reaffirmed by EPA on November 6. 
1991 (56 FR 56694) purs uant to Section I 07(d)( I) of the Clean Air Act. as amended in 1990. 
classi fying the Denver-Boulder metropolitan area (i nclud ing Jeffe rson Coull ty) as a transitional 
ozone nonaltainment area. On September II . 200 I (e ffccti ve October 11 . 200 I). EPA redesignatt.:d 
thc Denver-Boulder metropolitan area to atta inment fo r the I-hour ozone NAAQS (66 FR 47086). In 
A pri l 2004. EPA designated the Denver-Boulder metropol itan area (includ ing Jefferson County) as 
nonattainment for the 8-hour ozone NAAQS. but deferred the e ffect ive date of the designat ion based 
on a commitment from state and regiona l agencies to implement measures set forth in the Denver 
Earl y Action Compact for Ozone. On November 20. 2007, the deferral expi red. and the Denver-
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Bouldcr-Greclcy-Ft. Collins-Loveland. areas (including Jefferson County) became nonattainment for 
the 8-hour ozone NAAQS. 

20. On August 18. 1994. EPA conditionall y approved Colorado's SI P revis ions. which included 
nonattainment NSR provisions fo r sources of PM-I 0 precursors. NO.~ and S02. in the Denver 
metropolitan PM-I O nonattainment area. See 59 FR 42500. In 1997. EPA approved subsequent 
amendments to Colorado's SIP concerning Colorado' s nonattainment NSR rules. 

2 1. Sections 171-193 of the Act. 42 U.S.C. §§ 7501-75 15. impose SIP req ui rements for 
nonatta inment areas. Among other things. the statute requires thar states adopt SIP provisions 
establi shing an NNSR program which includes permitting requi rements and other requirements 
gove rning construction and operat ion ornew and modi lied major sources in nonattainmem arcas. 
Pursuant to Scction I 73(a)(2) of the Ac t. a state' s NNS R program must include a mandate that any 
Illodilicd source comply with LAER. 42 U.S .C. § 7503(a)(2). Sect ion 173(a)( I) o rtlle Act spcc i Ill..":s 
that a state's NNS R program must also include provisions requiring the modified source to obtain 
offsetting emissions reductions. -1-2 U.S.c. § 7503(a)( I ). The State of Colorado's regulatory 
provisions specific to NNSR are set forth in Sect ion IV.D.2 of Regulation No.3. See Colorado Air 
Qual ity Control Commission Regulation No.3. 5 CCR 1001 -5. Sect ion IV.D.2.<l (Colorado SIP 
I I O( h) Compilation as of 11/ 15/ 1995). Colorado Ai r Quality Control Commission Regulat ion No.3. 
5 CCR 1001-5. I'a,-I B. Scclion IV.D.2.a (Colorodo SIP 110(h) Compilalion as or 11115/ 1998). 

22. The Colorado SIP ,md Section 171(3) of the Ac t de fine "LAER'" as the most stringent 
emission li mitation which is ach ieved in practice or can reasonably be expected to occur in practice 
by such class or category of source. taking into consideration the pollutant which must be controlled. 
In no event can LAER be an emission limit grenter than that allowed under an appl icable New 
Source Performance Standard. As of May 30. 1995. the Colorado SIP also rl!quired that LAER 
consist orthe most stringent emission limit contained in <lny SIP for such class or category of 
stat ionary source (unless the owner or operator of the proposed source demonstrates that such limits 
Hrc not ach ievable). See "Common Prov isions Regulat ion". 5 CCR 100 1 - 2 Section I.G. "Lowest 
Achievab le Emission Rate" (Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as of 11 / 15/ 1995). Colorado Air 
Quality Control Commi ssion Regulation No.3. 5 CCR 1001-5. Part A. Section 1. 8.32 (Colorado SIP 
110(h) Compilalion as or 11 / 1511998). See a/so Scclion 171(3)(1\) orlhe Act 42 U.S .c. 
~ 7501(3)(A). 

Requirements for T itle V Oren'Iing Permits 

23. Sec tion 502(a) orthe Act. 42 U.S.C. § 766Ia(a) provides that. after the effect ive date orallY 
permit program approved or promulgated under Title V of the Act. no source subject to Title V may 
operate except ill compl iance with a T itle V permit. 

24. Scclion 502(d)(I) orlhe 1\ct 42 U.s.C. § 766 Ia(d)( I). calls upon each State to develop and 
submit to EPA an operat ing permit program to meet the requirements of Title V. 

25. EPA first promulgated regulations goveming state operating pennit programs on July 21. 
1992. See 57 Fed. Reg. 32295: 40 C.F.R. Part 70. 
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26. EPA granted interim approval to the Title V opc:rating permit program submitted by the State 
of Colorado effecti ve February 23,1995.60 Fed. Reg. 4563 (January 24.1995); 40 C. F.R. part 70. 
Appendix A.. Effective October 16, 2000. EPA granted full approval to Colorado's Title V operating 
permit program. 65 Fed. Reg. 49919 (AuguS! 16. 2000). 

27. Sect ion 503 of the Act, 42 U.S.c. § 7661b, sets forth the requirement to submit a timely, 
accurate, and complete application for a penn i!. including infonnation required to be submitted with 
the application. 

28. Section 504(a) of the Act. 42 U.S.C. 766 1 c(a). requires that each Title V permit include 
enforceable emission limitations and standards. a schedule o r compliance. and other conditions 
necessary to assure compliance with applicable requirements, including those contained in a state 
implementation plan. 

29. 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(a) and (c) require timely and complete permit applications for Tit le V 
permi ts with required information that must be submitted. and 40 C.r. R. § 70.6 specifics required 
permit content. See also Colorado Air Qua li ty Control Commiss ion Regulalion No.3. 5 CCR 1001· 
5. Part C. Sect ions III and V (CO SI P II O(h) Compilation as of 11/15/95). 

30. 40 C.F.R. § 70. 1 (b) provides that "All sources subjec t to these regulat ions shall have a pennit 
to operate that assures compliance by the source with all applicable requirements." See a/so 
Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No. 3. 5 eCR 1001·5 . Part C. Sections II and 
V (CO SIP Compilat ion as of 11/15/95). 

3 1. 40 C.F.R. § 70.2 defines "appl icable req uirement"' to include, "(1) Any standard or other 
requi rement provided fo r in the applicable implementation plan approved or promulgated by EPA 
through rulemaking under title I o f the Act that implements the relevant req uirements of the Acl. 
including any revisions to that plan promulgated in part 52 of this chapter. .. " ,s'ee also Colorado Air 
Quali ty Control Commission Regulat ion No.3. 5 CCR 1001-5. Part C. Section V (CO SIP 11 0(h) 
Compilation as of 11 /15/95). 

32. 40 C.F.R. § 70.5(b) provides that: "Any applicant who fai ls to submi t any relevant racts or 
who has submitted incorrect infonnation in a permit application shal l. upon becoming aware of such 
failu re or incorrect submittal , promptly submit such supplementary facts or corrected informat io n. In 
addi tion. an applicant sha ll provide add itional information as necessary to address any requircments 
that become applicable to the source after the date it filed a complete application but prior to release 
of a drafl permit." See also Colomdo Air Quality Control Commission Regu lat ion No.3. 5 CCR 
1001-5. Part C. Sect inn IV (CO S IP llO(h) Compilation as of 11 /15/95) . 

• J.). 40 C.F.R. § 70.7(b) provides that no source subject to Part' 70 requ irements may operate 
wi thout a permit issued under a Part 70 program. See a/so Colorado Air Quali ty Control 
Comm ission Regulation No.3. 5 CCR 1001-5, Part C. Section Il .1\.l and 2. (CO SIP llO(h) 
Compilat ion as of 11 / 15/95). 
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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCL USIONS OF LAW 

34. The Facility is located at 10619 West 50th Avenue in Wheat Ridge. Colorado. The Facility is 
engaged in the manufacture of glass containers for the food and beverage industry. The Facility was 
purchased by the Adolph Coors Company in 1976. In 1989, the Adolph Coors Company became the 
Coors Brewing Company. In or around 1995, Anchor Glass and Coors I3rewing Company entered 
into ajoint venture, called Rocky Mountain Bottle Company. to own and operate the Facility. 
Currently. the Facili ty is ajoint venture of Owens-Brockway Glass Container, Inc. and MillerCoors, 
LLC in which each has a 50% interest in Rocky Mountain Bottle Company, LLC. Respondent is a 
limited liability company authorized under the laws of the State of Colorado. 

35 . Respondent is a " person:' as that term is defined in Section 302(e) of the Act, 42 U.S.c. § 
7602(c). 

36. The Facility consists. in part, of two natural-gas-lired end port regenerative glass-melting 
furnaces (Furnaces A & B) and one Ilatural gas over-fi re/oxy-fuel furnace (Furnace C). The Facility 
also includcs equipment that supports the glass manufacturing process, such as forming machines 
and cullet process ing. 

37. The Facility is located in JetTerson County, Colorado. Je ffe rson County was designated as a 
non-attainment area for PM-I 0 and ozone duri ng the time of the 1991 modification and the 1995-
1999 furnace modifications referenced below. and is currently designated as llonallainmcnt for the 8-
hour ozone standard. 40 C.F.R. § 81 .306. 

38. The three furnaces operated by Respondent arc subject to Title V Operating Permit No. 
950PJE053. issued to Respondent on October I. 2001. last revised October 6. 2004, as well as 
applicab le requirements of underl ying Construction Permit No. 92JE 129-1. 

39. The Facility emits or has the potentia l to emit at least 250 tons per year ofNO.~ and S02 and 
is a "major stationary sourcc" under the Act and the Colorado SIP for PSD. NNSR and Title V. 

40. EPA issued information requests pursuant to the authority of Section 114 orthe Act. 42 
U.S.c. § 7414. (Information Requests) dated May 31. 2008 and May 27. 2009. requ iring Respondent 
to submit specific information regarding the Facility. 

41. Rt:spondem responded to I::P/\'s In format ion Requests with submittal s dated June 16. 2008. 
and August 11,2009 (Respondent'S Responses). Respondent's Responses discussed modi fications to 

Furnace A in 199 1, which included. but were not lim ited to, modifications to the melter. regenerator, 
and forehearthslrefiners that were to occur in conjunction with rebricking. These changes resulted in 
u "significant net emiss ions increase" of NO:\:. 

42. Respondent' s Responses to EPA's Inlormation Requests also detailed information related to 
modifications of the three glass furnaces in or about 1995. 1996. and 1999 (the Furnace Expansion 
Project) that included, but were 110t lim ited to, "extensive rcworkings of many of the plant 
operations" and "increased production by approximate ly 40% ." /\s described in a 1994 permit 
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application, "Phase I act ivities would include the re-machining o f Furnace I. and the addition of 
stagcd combustion capability to Furnace I. Both phase 2 and phase 3 would include the remachining 
of the respect ive furnaces to [narrow neck press and blow-I NNPD glass fonn ing machines and the 
addition of staged combustion capability. " 

43. The 1991 modification to Furnace A constituted a "major modification" for No.~ under the , 
PSD program and the Furnace Expansion Project constituted a "major modification" for No.~ and 
S02 under the PSD and NNSR programs. A review of the Colorado Department of Public Ilcalth 
and Environment (CDPHE) records and Respondeill ' s Responses, did not reveal any evidence that 
Respondent applied for a PSD pernlit for No.~ or S02. or a NNSR pennit for PM-IO prior to these 
major modifications or at any time prio r to the date of this Notice of Violation. 

44. On November 7. 1994. Responde nt applied for a "synthetic minor" NSR permit modification 
to cover the Furnace Expansion Project. The application used proposed emission reductions ofNo.~ 
(by installation of oxygen-enriched air staging (OEAS) techno logy for the three furnaces) and 
existing emission reductions ofS02 (by historic raw materi al changes) to calculate a less than 
"significant net emissions increase" for the project. On June 29, \995 , CDPHE issued the "synthetic 
minor" NSR permit modification largely based on Respondent' s representations made in its 
app lication. However. according to Respondeill ' s Responses to EPA's Information Requests. 
Respondent only installed and temporarily operated the proposed combustion NO.~ controls on 
Furnace A before discon ti nuing any NOx controls on that furnace. Additionally. Respondent never 
added No.~ controls on Furnace B that would have offset expected NO,\; emission increases from the 
pcrnl itted increase in production. as represented in the penni t app licat ion. Furthennore. 
Respondent's Responses to EPA's lnfonnation Requests revealed that the maximum amount ofS02 
reduction in the period contemporaneous to the furnace expansion project that could be considered 
creditable was not sufficient to offset the pennitted S02 increases. The result was a "significant net 
emission increase" in NOx and S02. 

NOTICE ANI) FINI) INGS OF V IOLATION 

45. Pursuant to the Colorado SIP and 40 C. r.R. * 52.21(r). any owner or opemtol' who constructs 
or opcrates a source or modification. without obtaining a permit. will be subject to an appropriate 
enforcement action. The Furnace Expansion Project conducted by Respondent caused a "signiticullt 
net emissions increase" ofNo.~ and S02, and the 1991 modi fication caused a "signiticant net 
emissions incrcasc" ofNo.~, resulting in each being a "major modification" as defined in the 
Colorado SIP and 40 C.F.R. § 52.2 I(b)(2)(i). Colorado Air Quali ty Control Commission Regulation 
No.3. 5 CCR 1001-5. Section 1.B.2 (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilat ion as of 11 / 15/ 1995). Colorado 
Ai r Quali ty Control Commission Regulation No.3, 5 CCR 1001-5. Part A. Section 1.8.35.8 
(Colorado SIP 11 0(h) Compilation as of 11 / 15/ 1998). 

46. With respect to the modifications outlined in pardgraphs 41 - 42. Respondent failed to obtain 
n PSD permit or undergo PSD review. prior to commencing construction. and failed 10 apply BACT 
and conduct an air model ing analys is. in violation of Sect ion 165(a)( I) orthe Act. 42 U.S.C, § 
7475(a)(I), 40 C.F.R. § 52.21(i) and G) through (r), and the Colorado SIP .. Colorado Air Quality 
Control Commission Regu lat ion No.3. 5 CCR 1001-5, Sections LA. IILAI, lV.O.3.a and 

J Respondent at times has referred to Furnaces A, Band C, as Furnaces 1.2 and 3, respectively. 
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IV.D.3.a.i-vi (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation as of 11/ 1511995). Colorado Air Quality Control 
Commission Regulation No.3, 5 eCR 1001-5. Part B. Sections l.A and III.A.l & Part B, Sections 
IV.D.3.a. and IV.D.3.a.i-vi (Colorado SIP I I O(h) Compilation as of 11 / 15/ 1998). 

47. As stated in Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No.3, 5 eCR 1001-5. 
Sect ion IV.D.2.a. for any new "major stat ionary source" or "major modification", the applicant must 
provide infomlation outl ined in that section for a nonattainment area pennit. The Denver 
Metropolitan area was classified as nonattainmcnt for PM-! 0 during the Furnace Expansion Project. 
Pursuant to Colorado Air Quality Control Commiss ion Regulation No.3. 5 eCR 1001-5. Part A. 
Section I.B.35.B.a, the NOx and S02 "sign ificant net emiss ion increases" also consti tute a 
"significant net emission increase" for PM·IO. With respect to the modifications outlined in 
paragraph 42, Respondent failed to obtain a NNSR permit prior to commencing construction, and 
failed to apply LAER, obtain offsets, and comply with the other requ ircments in Colorado Air 
Quali ty Control Commission Regulation No.3, 5 CCR 100\·5, Section IV.D.2.a, in violation of" 
Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regu lation No.3. 5 CCR 1001·5, Section IV.D.2.a. 
(Colorado SIP II O(h) Compilation as of 11 / 15/1995). Colorado Air Quality Contro l Commission 
Regulation No.3 , 5 CCR 1001-5. Part B, Section IV.D.2.a (Colorado SIP 110(h) Compilation as of 
1111511998). 

48. The vio lations noted in paragraphs 46 - 47 occurred frol11 at least the start date of the 
construction of the modifications and continue until the appropriate permits are obtained. the 
necessary pollution control equipment is installLxI and oper.:lled. and Respondent establishes 
continuous compliance with the above·cited req uirements. 

49. It is a violation to operate each affected source without BACT controls for NO.~ and S02 
every day o f such operation. It is a violation to operate each affected source without achieving 
LAER for NO.~ and 502, obtaining necessary offsets, and complying with the othcr requirements or 
Colorado Air Quality Control Commission Regulation No.3. 5 eCR 1001·5. Section IV.D.2.a. 
eve ry day of such operation. 

50. Respondent is in vio lation of the Title V perm itting requ irements because it failed and 
continues to fail to submit a timely and complete application for a Title V operating permit for the 
modified Faci lity. including updating its existing application to include all applicable requirements, 
including the requirement to meet BACT limits and LAER for a modified source. 

ENFORCEMENT 

51. Section 113(a)(l) and (3) o f the Act, 42 U.S.C. § 7413(a)(I) and (3). provide that at any time 
after the expi ration of thirty (30) days following the date of the issuance of thi s NOV. the Regional 
Admin istrator may, without regard to the period of violation. isslle an order requiring compliance 
with the rcquirements of the Act. SIP or permit, and/or bring a civil action pursuant to Section 
I 13(b) for injunctive relief and/or c ivil penalties of not more than $25.000 per day for each violation 
that occurred through January 30, 1997, no more than $27.500 per day for each violation that 
occurred after January 30. 1997 through March IS, 2004. no more than $32.500 per day for each 
violation that occurred after March IS, 2004 through January 12~ 2009. and no more than $37,500 
per day for each vio lation that occurred after Jan uary 12.2009. Section 11 3(c) of the Act, 42 U.S.c. 
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§ 74l3(c), provides that criminal sanct ions may a lso be imposed to redress knowing violations of the 
Act. Section 306 of the Act. 42 U.S.C. § 7606. allows that any fac il ity found in vio lation of the Act 
may be barred from federal grants, loans. or contracts. 

OPPORTUN ITY FO R CONFER ENCE 

52. Respondent may, upon request, confer with EPA. The con ference will enab le Respondent to 
present ev idence bearing on the findings of violations. on the nature of the vio lat ions, and on any 
efforts Respondent may have taken or proposes to take to achieve compliance. Respondent has the 
right to be represented by counse l. A request for a conference must be made withi n ten (10) ca lendar 
days o f receipt of thi s NOV, and the req uest fo r a confe rence or other inqu iries concerning the NOV 
should be made in writing to: 

She ldon H. Muller (Mail Code 8ENF-L) 
Senio r Enforcement Atto rney 
Office of Enforcement, Compliance and 
Environmenta l Justice 
V.S. EPA Region 8 
1595 Wynkoop SI. 
Denver. CO 80202-1129 
rnul ler.sheldon@epa.gov 
303-31 2-69\6 

By offering the opportunity for a conference or participating in one. EPA does not waive or 
li mit its ri ghllo any remedy ava ilable under the Act. 

E ~- FI':CTlVE IlATE 

53. This NOV shall be e ffecti ve immediately upon issuance. 

Date Issued: R bJ t C~ vy , 

ec: Will Allison. Director 
Air Pollution Contro l Division 

An re" M. Gaydosh 
As ist t Regional Administrator 
o I of Enforcement. Compliance and 

Environmental Just ice 

Colorado Department of Public Hea lth and Environment 

Phillip A. Brooks. Dirccto r 
Air Enforcemcnt Div ision 
Office of Enforcement and Compliance Assurance 
Un ited States Env ironmental Protection Agency 
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IN THE MAT T E R OF: 
DOC KET NUMBE R: 

ROC KY MOUNTAIN BOTTLE, LLC 
DOC K ET No. CAA·08· 2012·0002 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

On this dale, the undersigned hereby certifies that the original and one truc and correct copy orthe 
NOTI CE OF VIOLATIO N, DOCKET No. C AA ·08·2012·0002 was hand·carricd to the Regional 
Hearing Clerk: 

Tina Artemis, Region 8 Hearing Clerk 
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
1595 Wynkoop Street 
Denver, Colorado 80202-1129 

That a copy of the NOTICE OF VIOLATION, DOC KE T No. CAA·08·2012·0002 was sent via 
CERTIFIED MAIL/RETURN RECEIPT II 7009 341000002592 0486 along with cover letter to: 

John Kester 
Vice President and Plant Manager 
Rocky Mountain Bottle Company, LLC 
10619 West SOli! Avenue 
RR836 
Wheat Ridge, CO 80033 

And that a copy the NOTIC E OF VIOLATION, DOCKET No. CAA·08·2012· 0002 along with copy 
of cover letter was sent by first class mail to: 

Date: Februarv 1. 2012 

Will Allison, Director 
Air Pollution Control Division 
Colorado Department or Public Ilcalth and Environment 
4300 Cherry Creek Drive south 
Denver, CO 80246·1530 

I . 

BY~~ '&~ 


